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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT COURT OF NEW MEXICO

GUADALUPE CHAVEZ, LORENZA
ROMERO, ALICE SANCHEZ, SUSIE 
TRUJILLO, and PETRA VELARDE,  
Plaintiffs on behalf of themselves 
and all others similarly situated,

vs.

THOMAS VILSACK, Secretary of the
Department of Agriculture,

VILLAS DE AVENIDA CANADA, LLC., 
and BOSLEY MANAGEMENT, INC.,
Defendants

CASE NO:

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT,
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, AND DAMAGES

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This lawsuit is brought on behalf of a proposed class of low-income individuals

who are current or former tenants at La Vista Del Rio Apartments, a 49-unit rental housing 

complex in Española, New Mexico, which until September 15, 2023, was deeply subsidized 

affordable housing under the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)’s Rural 

Development (RD) Section 515 loan program and Section 521 Rental Assistance deep subsidy 

program. 

2. Contrary to the Emergency Low-Income Housing Preservation Act (ELIHPA),

regulations and its own Handbook, RD unlawfully approved the prepayment of the loan 12 years 

before its natural maturity, which terminated all RD subsidies to the property and directly 
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harmed the Plaintiffs, resulting in the loss of vital tenant protections and the looming threat of 

evictions to current tenants as well as the unlawful displacement and homelessness of others.

3. In addition, RD avoided its obligation to consider the impact of loan acceleration 

and prepayment on the residents of La Vista Del Rio when it failed to offer them the opportunity 

to appeal RD’s decisions to accelerate and approve prepayment of the loan in violation of the 

Plaintiffs’ due process rights guaranteed by 7 U.S.C. § 6991 et seq., 42 U.S.C. § 1480(g), and the 

5th Amendment Due Process Clause. 

4. The current owner has engaged in actions that harm the remaining residents, 

which include threatening rent increases and demanding that they obtain an RD Voucher and 

sign new leases, which violate the use restriction, the existing residential leases and New Mexico 

state law. 

5. The former and current owners failed to make timely repairs and maintain 

Plaintiffs’ housing in a safe, decent, and sanitary condition in violation of their obligations under 

the Section 515 and 521 programs and the New Mexico Uniform Owner-Resident Relations Act.

6. Finally, RD continues to operate its voucher program in violation of federal law 

and in an arbitrary and capricious manner in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act. For 

example, following La Vista Del Rio’s sale to the current owner and exit from the Section 515 

portfolio, RD approved residents to remain at the property using RD vouchers. The owner has 

not made repairs to the units where vouchers are being used even though RD had previously 

claimed the prior owner could not make the place safe to live when it decided to accelerate the 

loan.

7. Plaintiffs bring this lawsuit for injunctive, declaratory, and monetary relief to 
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ensure that Defendants extend to Plaintiffs all the protections contained in the use restriction, 

their leases, and federal and state laws. Plaintiffs also seek to halt the current owner’s threat of 

rent increases and the owners’ demand that Plaintiffs enter into new leases and the RD Voucher 

program, all of which are less advantageous to Plaintiffs than the existing use restriction and

could result in the loss of vital tenant protections, their evictions and homelessness. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337, 1343(a)(3) and 

(4), 1361, and 1367, in that the Plaintiffs’ claims arise under the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. 

Constitution and the Administrative Procedure Act. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over 

the state law claims because they arise out of the same set of facts as Plaintiffs’ federal law 

claims. Declaratory relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202.

9. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to the claims in this action occurred in this judicial district, and the 

property that is the subject of the action is situated in this judicial district.

III. PARTIES

10. Plaintiff Guadalupe Chavez is a very low-income resident of La Vista Del Rio who 

has lived at the property since 2000. He received Rental Assistance, an RD rental subsidy that 

limited his individual rent contribution to 30% of his adjusted monthly income. His current rent is 

$319 per month. He is on a 12-month lease which will end August 1, 2025, and automatically 

renews annually. The current owner told him he needed to apply for an RD Voucher. Mr. Chavez 

is Latino. 
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11. Plaintiff Lorenza Romero is a very low-income resident of La Vista Del Rio who 

has lived at the property since December 2022. She lives in a 2-bedroom apartment with two of 

her children. She received Rental Assistance, and her rent was $146 per month. She had a 12-

month lease that automatically renews annually. The current property manager told her that her 

rent would increase to over $1,000 if she stayed. Because the property manager told her that the

rent would increase if she did not have an RD Voucher, she applied for an RD voucher, which 

required her to sign a new lease that denies her benefits that she has received under the 515 program 

and does not protect her against eviction at the end of the lease term. Since signing the voucher, 

her rent has increased over $214 to $360 per month – a nearly 70% increase. Her lease ends in 

February 2025. Ms. Romero receives Social Security Disability Income. She is Latina.

12. Plaintiff Alice Sanchez is a former, very low-income resident of La Vista Del Rio 

who lived at the property from 2021-2023. She left in March 2023 when management informed 

her the building would be shut down. Prior to her forced departure, she received Rental Assistance, 

paid $120 per month for rent, and had a 12-month lease that automatically renewed annually. When 

she was displaced, she was immediately unable to find a rental unit she could afford and was forced 

to live in her car. She had to leave Española and now pays $1,000 per month for rent. Her son has 

to help her with rent payments because the rent is more than she receives from Social Security 

Disability Income. She has not been able to find anywhere she can afford on her own in New 

Mexico. She applied for an RD Voucher but has not received any further assistance. She is Black 

and Latina. 

13. Plaintiff Susie Trujillo is a former, very low-income resident of La Vista Del Rio 

who lived at the property from 2018-2023. She received Rental Assistance, paid $10 per month 
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for rent, and had a 12-month lease that automatically renewed annually. She had no income other 

than SNAP. She had to leave the property and her affordable home in March 2023 after 

management informed her the building would be shut down. She is now working full-time as a

custodian and earns less than $3,000 per month. She now pays $1,000 per month for rent. She is 

Latina. 

14. Plaintiff Petra Velarde is a very low-income resident of La Vista Del Rio who has 

lived at the property since 2009. She is the primary caregiver for her two minor children. She 

received Rental Assistance and pays $28 per month for rent. She has a 12-month lease which 

automatically renews annually. The current property manager told her that if she stayed at the 

property her rent would increase to $1,000 per month at the end of her lease. She works full-time. 

She has tried to find other housing that she can afford but cannot find anything in Española that 

she can afford on her salary. 

15. Defendant Thomas Vilsack, the Secretary of the United States Department of 

Agriculture (“USDA” or “The Agency”), is statutorily vested with the authority to operate the rural 

housing programs authorized by Title V of the Housing Act of 1949, 42 U.S.C. 1471 et seq. 

Defendant Vilsack (“Federal Defendant”) is sued in his official capacity.

16. Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada, LLC, a New Mexico LLC, acquired La 

Vista Del Rio on or about September 25, 2023, and is the current owner of La Vista Del Rio. 

17. Defendant Bosley Management, Inc., an active Wyoming corporation currently 

registered to do business in New Mexico, operated La Vista Del Rio under the Section 515 

program and was an agent of the former owner, La Vista Del Rio Apartments LP.1

1 Collectively, unless otherwise noted, defendants Villas de Avenida Canada, LLC and Bosley Management, Inc., 
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IV. STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

A. USDA’s Section 515 Program

18. The Section 515 rural rental housing loan program, initially authorized by the 

Senior Citizens Housing Act of 1962, is a cornerstone of federally assisted affordable housing in 

rural areas of the United States. 

19. The USDA, through its RD mission area and the Rural Housing Service (RHS), 

finances and subsidizes the development and operation of rental housing in rural areas 

throughout the United States under Section 515 of the Housing Act of 1949. 42 U.S.C. § 1485.

20. The Section 515 program authorizes RD to make loans to private, public, and 

nonprofit developers to construct and operate subsidized housing for very low-, low-, and 

moderate-income families, elderly persons, and persons with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 1485.

These 30-year loans are provided at an effective 1% interest rate and are amortized over 50 

years. Id.

21. Housing developments financed through the Section 515 program are subject to 

certain affordability requirements and rent restrictions that remain in effect throughout the term 

of the loan.

22. Residents of Section 515 developments may be beneficiaries of Interest Credit 

and Rental Assistance subsidies from RD. These subsidies, both authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 

1490a, enable low- and very low-income people to afford the rents in Section 515 developments.

23. The Interest Credit subsidy program, which reduces the interest rate on a Section 

515 loan to a 1% effective interest rate, is available for all Section 515 developments and units. 

will hereafter be referred to as the “Private Defendants.”
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42 U.S.C. § 1490a(a)(1)(B).

24. Under the Interest Credit program, the owner, with RD’s approval, establishes a 

basic rent for each unit in the development, which is based on the cost of operating the 

development and amortizing the RD loan at the 1% interest rate. Residents pay the higher of 

30% of their income or the basic rent, which is usually less than market rent in the area. 7 C.F.R. 

§§ 3560.11 and 3560.203(a).

25. Rental Assistance (RA) is a deep subsidy program authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 

1490a(2)(A) which is available to very low- and low-income residents of Section 515 housing. 

Beneficiaries of the program pay 30% of household income for shelter, which includes the cost 

of rent and utilities.

26. RA is extended to residents through a contract between the owner and RD for a 

certain number of housing units in a development. These contracts may provide RA to some or 

all of the resident households in a development.

27. Residents’ shelter costs in Section 515 developments include the cost of rent and 

tenant-paid utilities.

28. Where the resident is responsible for paying the cost of utilities, they receive a 

utility allowance from the owner. This utility allowance offsets the cost, keeping the resident’s 

shelter costs at 30% of adjusted income.

29. The administration of the Section 515 program is governed by statutes, 

regulations and handbooks. 

B. USDA Loan Prepayment Requirements Under ELIHPA

30. In 1988, in response to increased prepayments of Section 515 loans and the 
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negative impact those prepayments had on residents and the loss of affordable housing in rural 

communities, Congress enacted the Emergency Low-Income Housing Preservation Act 

(ELIHPA), P.L. 100-242 (Feb. 5, 1988). 

31. ELIHPA’s provisions applicable to Section 515 developments were intended to 

preserve Section 515 projects as affordable housing and protect residents against displacement 

by restricting the loan prepayment rights of owners who had entered Section 515 loans before 

December 21, 1979.

32. The express purposes of ELIHPA included the preservation and retention “to the 

maximum extent practicable as housing affordable to low-income families or persons those 

privately-owned dwelling units that were produced for such purpose with Federal assistance; 

[and] to minimize the involuntary displacement of tenants currently residing in such housing.” 

Id. at 101 Stat. 1878.

33. In 1989, Congress adopted prepayment restrictions on all new Section 515 loans 

made after December 15, 1989, for the term of the loan, 42 U.S.C. § 1472(c)(1)(B), thereby 

eliminating future prepayments of development financed after 1989.

34. In 1992, Congress extended the ELIHPA prepayment restrictions to all 

developments financed between December 21, 1979 and December 15, 1989. 42 U.S.C. § 

1472(c)(1)(A).

35. There is no statutory exception to ELIHPA’s prepayment restrictions.

36. RD regulations define a prepayment as “[p]ayment in full of the outstanding 

balance on an Agency loan prior to the note’s originally scheduled maturity date.” 7 C.F.R. § 

3560.11.
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37. Once a loan is prepaid all subsidies that reduce the rents to residents, including 

Interest Credit and Rental Assistance, cease. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1490a(a)(1)(B) and 1490a(2)(A); 7 

C.F.R. § 3560.11.

38. Once a complete prepayment request has been submitted by an owner of a Section 

515 property, RD has 30 days to notify residents of the owner’s request to prepay the loan, 

pursuant to 7 C.F.R. § 3560.654, and 60 days to determine the eligibility of the loan for 

prepayment and whether the borrower has or will comply with applicable prepayment laws and 

regulations. If the owner’s prepayment request meets these and other requirements, RD must 

offer incentives to the owner to remain in the program. 42 U.S.C. § 1472(c)(3); 7 C.F.R. § 

3560.653(e).

39. If the owner rejects the incentives, RD must determine whether the prepayment 

will materially affect housing opportunities of minorities. 42 U.S.C. § 1472(c)(5)(G)(ii). When 

RD determines that prepayment will materially affect housing opportunities of minorities, the 

owner must, for 180 days, offer to sell the development at its market value to a nonprofit or 

public agency which would maintain the development as affordable housing. 42 U.S.C. §§ 

1472(c)(5)(A), 1472(c)(5)(G).

40. Prior to 2005, RD regulations with respect to making a finding on the impact of 

the prepayment on minority housing opportunities mirrored the statute by requiring RD staff to 

make a negative determination that minorities will not be materially affected as a result of the 

prepayment. 7 C.F.R. § 1965.215(c)(1)(i) (1993).

41. In 2005, RD modified this to require a finding of whether minorities in the 

project, on the waiting list or in the community will be disproportionately adversely affected by 
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the loss of the affordable rental housing. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.658(b). RD explained this change by 

stating that comments were received asking for additional information on how the determination 

of minority impact is reached. In response, RD agreed “that ‘adverse impact’ needed further 

clarification and has clarified that the adverse impact should be disproportionate. Additional 

details on how the Agency will review relevant information is available in Agency guidance 

about program procedures.” 69 Fed. Reg. 69032 and 69094 (Nov. 24, 2004).

42. The only guidance that RD has published with respect to making the impact of a 

prepayment on minority housing opportunities is set out in RD Handbook 3-3560. It requires the 

RD Civil Rights staff to assess the impact of a prepayment on minority housing opportunities 

and defines relevant factors to be considered as:

▪ The percentage of minorities residing in the project and the percentage of 

minorities residing in the projects in the market area where displaced tenants are most 

likely to move;

▪ The impact of prepayment on minority residents in the project and in the market 

area. Determine whether displaced minority tenants will be forced to move to other low-

income housing in areas not convenient to their places of employment, to areas with a 

concentrated minority population and/or to areas with a concentration of substandard 

housing;

▪ The vacancy trends and number of potential minority tenants on the waiting list at 

the project being prepaid and at other projects in the market that might attract minority 

tenants; and

▪ The impact prepayment will have on the opportunity for minorities residing in 
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substandard housing in the market area to have comparable decent, safe and affordable housing, 

as is offered by the project being prepaid. RD Handbook 3-3560, ⁋ 15.21 (02-24-05) Rev. (11-

07-08).

43. These factors only look at the impact of a prepayment on minority housing 

opportunities without comparing it to the impact on non-minorities.

44. If the prepayment has no adverse effect on minority housing opportunities, RD 

must next determine if there is adequate comparable affordable housing in the community to 

which the current residents of the development can relocate. If such housing is available, the 

owner is free to prepay the loan without restrictions. If, however, RD determines that there is not 

adequate comparable affordable housing, the owner can only prepay the loan subject to use 

restrictions, which (in cases where all the residents have Rental Assistance) protect the current 

residents from rent increases not based upon an increase in a resident’s income, as long as they 

choose to live in the development. 7 C.F.R. §§ 3560.662(a) and (e), 3560.203(a). These 

restrictions are binding on the prepaying owner as well as any successors in interest and are 

enforceable by RD and the remaining residents. Id.§ 3560.662(d).

45. When a borrower of a Section 515 development prepays a loan, RD subsidies 

terminate as does RD’s regular supervision and monitoring of most of the borrower’s actions 

including approval of all rent increases, the maintenance of the development, the content of

leases, the term of leases, and the basis upon which a lease may be terminated.

C. RD’s Liquidation Process for Noncompliant Borrowers

46. Section 515 borrowers have an obligation to maintain their properties in a decent, 

safe, and sanitary manner. 
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47. Where a borrower fails to maintain its property in a decent, safe, and sanitary 

manner, RD issues a compliance violation notice to the borrower to correct the identified 

violation(s) within a specified period of time. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.354. Where a borrower fails to 

maintain its property in a decent, safe, and sanitary manner, RD issues a compliance violation 

notice to the borrower to correct the identified violation(s) within a specified period of time. 7 

C.F.R. § 3560.354.

48. If the borrower fails to correct the identified violation(s) within the time specified 

in the notice, they will be considered in default. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.452(c) and (e).

49. When a borrower is in default, the Agency issues the borrower a default notice 

detailing the compliance violation that led to the default, specifying the actions necessary to cure 

the default, and establishing a deadline by which the default must be cured to avoid Agency 

initiation of enforcement actions, liquidation, or other actions. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.452(d).

50. A borrower may work to resolve a compliance violation or default (and avoid 

liquidation or enforcement action by RD) by entering into a workout plan with the Agency. 7 

C.F.R. § 3560.453.

51. RD will only approve a workout plan if the Agency determines that (1) the actions 

proposed are likely to correct the compliance violations, (2) approval is in the best interest of the 

Federal Government and tenants, and (3) the proposed actions are consistent with the borrower’s 

management plan. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.453(b).

52. The onus to develop a workout plan is on the borrower, and the Agency is under 

no obligation to approve a workout plan submitted by the borrower. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.453(b).

53. If the borrower fails to cure the default, the Agency will accelerate the loan, 
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which it refers to as liquidation, unless it determines other enforcement measures are appropriate. 

7 C.F.R. § 3560.456(b); 7 C.F.R. § 3560.452(e).

54. Pursuant to RD’s regulations, before accelerating a loan, the Agency must 

consider whether the borrower is forcing an acceleration to avoid the prepayment process 

prescribed by ELIHPA. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.456(a). If the Agency finds the borrower is seeking to 

avoid the prepayment process, RD will consider alternatives other than acceleration, such as 

suing for specific performance under the loan and management documents. Id.

55. As part of accelerating the loan, RD requires the borrower to take the following 

actions to protect the tenants: (1) extend all tenant leases for 180 days after the date the 

accelerated loan was paid off and (2) execute restrictive-use provisions. Exh. 1, Tenant 

Protection Actions; see also HB-3-3560, p. 12-12. In addition, RD requires the borrower to 

provide it with a list of current tenants so that the local Servicing Office can notify tenants that 

the project is being prepaid and provide eligible tenants with Letters of Priority Entitlement 

(LOPE). Exh. 1. A LOPE allows residents to go to the top of all waiting lists of any RD property, 

anywhere in the country, if the resident is eligible to live there. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.11.

56. After acceleration of the loan, the “borrower’s account may be paid off by cash, 

transfer and assumption, sale of the property, or voluntary conveyance.” HB-3-3560, 12-13. The 

borrower may also voluntarily liquidate through a deed in lieu of foreclosure. 7 C.F.R. § 

3560.456(c).

57. Tenants must be informed about the consequences of loan acceleration and, if the 

property will no longer participate in the Section 515 or 521 programs, tenants must be given a 

minimum of 180 days written notice. HB-3-3560, 12-11.
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58. If the borrower fails to comply with the requirements contained in the acceleration 

notice, the Agency will foreclose or acquire the security property through deed in lieu of 

foreclosure. Id.

59. Upon acceleration of the loan, the Agency will cancel the interest credit and 

suspend rental assistance to the property. Id.

D. Rural Development Voucher Program 

60. RD operates a rural housing voucher program (“RD Voucher Program”). 42 

U.S.C. § 1490r. When Congress funded the program for the first time in fiscal year 2006, P.L. 

No. 109-97 (Nov. 10, 2005), 119 Stat. 2120, 2139, it limited the use of RD Vouchers to only 

assist households facing hardship or displacement from the prepayment of RD Section 515 loans. 

Eligibility for the RD Voucher Program was expanded to also include residents of Section 515 

properties that were subject to foreclosure and mortgage maturity.

61. The subsidy amount provided to residents under the RD Voucher Program is 

permanently limited to the difference between the market rent of the prepaid unit and the amount 

that eligible households paid for shelter as of the date of prepayment. Residents who received a 

utility allowance, such as the Plaintiffs, prior to the prepayment do not receive an ongoing utility 

allowance under the RD Voucher program. The end result of entry into the RD Voucher Program 

is that residents begin to pay more than 30% of their adjusted income towards shelter costs.

62. The RD Voucher Program provides no additional financial assistance to residents 

who have Rental Assistance and live in properties prepaid subject to use restrictions. For 

residents who received Rental Assistance prior to the prepayment, their shelter payments under 

the use restrictions, which include rent and a utility allowance, always remain the same as their 
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shelter payments were before the prepayment. 

63. Importantly, Senate and House Conference Committee reports make clear that the 

vouchers do not “alter prepayment restrictions…” Senate Rep. 109-92, Pgs. 115-116 (June 25, 

2005); House Conf. Rep. 109-255, Pg. 92 (Oct. 26, 2005). Congress has continued to fund the 

RD Voucher Program every year since 2006 maintaining the same general restrictions. See e.g. 

P.L. 116-260, Stat (Dec. 27, 2020).

64. The RD Voucher Program Guide also underscores that owners who prepay must 

honor the leases of tenants residing at the property as of the prepayment, including for tenants to 

continue to pay their previously subsidized rent without the benefit of Rental Assistance. Rural 

Development Voucher Program Guide, § 2.5 (Sept. 2010) (“Voucher Guide”). The Voucher 

Guide also notes that because the RD Voucher requires a new lease, it is not possible to provide 

an RD Voucher during the remaining term of the lease after prepayment. Id. Finally, the Guide 

makes clear that tenants in the rent-restricted units “may choose to continue with rent restrictions 

instead of using a voucher…” Id. § 1.1.

65. When an RD Voucher is going to be issued due to a prepayment, RD issues a 

letter early in the prepayment process. The letter is issued to all tenants and advises them of their 

rights in the event of prepayment. MFH RD Voucher Program Guidebook, at 60.

66. Once the prepayment or foreclosure occurs, RD issues another letter notifying 

current tenants that they are eligible to apply for an RD Voucher.

67. To apply for the RD Voucher, tenants must sign the Voucher Obligation Form 

and complete the Citizenship or Eligible Immigration Status Declaration document and submit 

them to USDA.
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68. Upon receipt of both documents, USDA conducts the initial eligibility 

determination. If the tenant is determined eligible to receive a voucher, RD advises them of their 

eligibility status, the amount of the voucher they are eligible for, and who to contact to receive 

their voucher.

69. The tenant is then responsible for finding a suitable unit. The tenant and the unit 

owner must complete and return the Request for Tenancy Approval. Then, RD conducts an 

inspection of the unit. However, for former RD properties, in lieu of an inspection, RD may 

submit a State Director’s Letter certifying that the property has been inspected in the last year.

70. If the unit does not pass inspection, RD notifies the owner and the tenant. If the 

owner is willing to correct the issues identified, RD schedules another inspection. If the second 

inspection fails, RD requires the tenant to find another unit that will pass inspection.

71. If the unit passes inspection, RD notifies the owner and the tenant. RD also 

notifies the contractor charged with administering the RD Voucher program.

72. The contractor then sends the owner a Housing Assistance Payments (“HAP”) 

contract and HUD lease addendum, both of which the owner is required to sign and return to the 

contractor. 

73. The owner and the tenant are then required to sign a new lease that contains the 

signed HUD lease addendum.

74. RD has never developed a HAP contract or tenancy addendum for use in 

developments that are prepaid subject to use restrictions where RD Voucher assistance is 

extended to remaining residents. Instead, it has been using interlineated HUD Section 8 Housing 

Choice Voucher program forms that make no reference to the recorded use restrictions and the 
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owners’ obligations to continue to operate the housing as if it remained in the 515 program and 

to follow the regulations set out in 7 C.F.R. § 3560. 

75. Both the RD HAP contract and the tenancy addendum, in fact, conflict with the 

remaining resident use restrictions in a variety of ways, including the type of lease that must be 

used under the voucher program, the subsequent lease term after the initial lease term, the 

operating costs that the owner may pass on to the voucher holders, and loss of the good cause 

termination requirements after the initial lease term.

E. New Mexico Uniform Owner Resident Relations Act

76. The New Mexico Uniform Owner Resident Relations Act (UORRA) is the 

primary law governing housing rentals in the state. N. M. S. A. 1978, § 47-8-1.

77. The purpose of the Uniform Owner Resident Relations Act is to simplify, clarify, 

modernize, and revise the law governing the rental of dwelling units and the rights and 

obligations of owners and residents, and to encourage the owners and the residents to maintain 

and improve the quality of housing in New Mexico. N. M. S. A. 1978, § 47-8-2.

78. UORRA requires landlords, among other obligations, to:

a. Make repairs and do whatever is necessary to put and keep the 

premises in a safe condition as provided by applicable law (N. M. 

S. A. 1978, § 47-8-20(A)(2));

b. Keep common areas of the premises in a safe condition (N. M. S. 

A. 1978, § 47-8-20(A)(3)); and

c. Maintain in good and safe working order and condition electrical, 

plumbing, sanitary, heating, ventilating, air conditioning and other 
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facilities. N. M. S. A. 1978, § 47-8-20(A)(4).

79. UORRA also requires landlords to substantially comply with requirements of the 

applicable minimum housing codes materially affecting health and safety. N. M. S. A. 1978, § 

47-8-20(A)(1). In Española, the housing code requires, among other things, that:

a. Halls and stairways to be lighted (City of Española Gen. Leg., Art. 

III, §222-8(F));

b. When the dwelling or dwelling unit is heated by a central heating 

system, every heat duct, steam pipe, and hot water pipe is free of 

leaks and functions so that adequate heat is delivered where 

intended (City of Española Gen. Leg., Art. III, §222-8(H)(1));

c. Every foundation, floor, wall, ceiling, and roof shall be reasonably 

weathertight, watertight, and rodentproof; shall be capable of 

affording privacy; and shall be kept in good repair (City of 

Española Gen. Leg., Art. III, §222-9(D)(1));

d. Every floor is free of holes and wide cracks which might admit 

rodents, or which constitute a possible accident hazard (City of 

Española Gen. Leg., Art. III, §222-9(D)(2)(b));

e. Every interior wall and ceiling is free of holes and large cracks 

(City of Española Gen. Leg., Art. III, §222-9(D)(2)(e));

f. Every window, exterior door, and basement hatchway shall be 

reasonably weathertight, watertight, and rodentproof, and shall be 

kept in sound working condition and good repair (City of Española 
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Gen. Leg., Art. III, §222-9(E));

g. Every owner of a dwelling containing two or more dwelling units 

shall be responsible for maintaining in a clean and sanitary 

condition the shared or public areas of the dwelling and premises 

thereof (City of Española Gen. Leg., Art. III, §222-11); and

h. Whenever infestation exists in two or more of the dwelling units in 

any dwelling, or in the shared or public parts of any dwelling 

containing two or more dwelling units, extermination thereof shall 

be the responsibility of the owner (City of Española Gen. Leg., 

Art. III, §222-16).

80. UORRA also prohibits unlawful removal by landlords. N. M. S. A. 1978, § 47-8-

36(A). The owner, or a person acting on their behalf, is prohibited from threatening or attempting 

to remove or dispossess a resident without a court order, thus rendering the dwelling unit or any 

personal property located in the dwelling unit or on the premises inaccessible or unattainable. Id.

This includes threats or attempts to remove by fraud. N. M. S. A. 1978, § 47-8-36(A)(1). 

F. New Mexico Unfair Trade Practices Act

81. New Mexico’s Unfair Practices Act (UPA) prohibits unfair, deceptive, and 

unconscionable trade practices. N. M. S. A. 1978, § 57-12-3. The UPA prohibits methods, acts, 

and practices, including: 

a. Making false or misleading statements of fact concerning the price 

or good of a service or the reasons for existence or reasons for the 

amount of price reduction. N. M. S. A. 1978, § 57-12-2(D)(11);
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b. Using exaggeration, innuendo, or ambiguity as to a material fact or 

failing to state a material fact if doing so deceives or tends to 

deceive N. M. S. A. 1978, § 57-12-2(D)(14); 

c. Stating that a transaction involves rights, remedies, or obligations 

that it does not involve. N.M. S. A. 1978, § 57-12-2(D)(15); and

d. Failing to deliver the quality or quantity of goods or services 

contracted. N.M. S. A. 1978, § 57-12-2(D)(19). 

V. FACTS

A. The Development of La Vista Del Rio

82. La Vista Del Rio is a 6-building development located in Española, New Mexico. 

The development consists of 49 units: 17 one-bedroom units, 24 two-bedroom units, and 8 three-

bedroom units. It was initially developed by La Vista Del Rio Apartments LP, with a 50-year 

USDA loan in the amount of $1,612,000. The loan was made under Section 515 of the Housing 

Act of 1949, 42 U.S.C. § 1485, and entered into on April 15, 1985. Exh. 2, La Vista Del Rio 

Apartments USDA-FmHA Mortgage.

83. On information and belief, WHG Partnership, which consisted of John Bosley, 

Constance Bosley, and Michael Ryan, was the General Partner of La Vista Del Rio Apartments 

LP from 1995-2023.

84. On information and belief, Bosley Management, Inc. managed La Vista Del Rio 

and John Bosely and Constance Bosley were agents of Bosley Management. All but one of the 

units at La Vista Del Rio were deeply subsidized under the Section 521 Rental Assistance 

program. Before La Vista Del Rio exited the RD multifamily housing portfolio in 2023, the 
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monthly rents were $675 for a one-bedroom apartment, $795 for a two-bedroom apartment, and 

$1,000 for a three-bedroom apartment. Exh. 3, Email from John Bosley to Miriam Haylett (Mar. 

23, 2023). However, the Plaintiffs, and all other residents receiving rental assistance, only paid 

30% of their adjusted income toward rents as set by USDA. 

85. Bosley Management, Inc. operates more than 40 USDA multifamily housing 

properties located in Arizona, Colorado, Montana, New Mexico, and Wyoming. 

B. USDA Conducts a Suitability Determination of La Vista Del Rio

86. On September 8, 2022, USDA conducted a suitability determination of La Vista 

Del Rio, which involved an in-person inspection of the property. Following that inspection, 

USDA completed a Property Categorization Worksheet (“Worksheet”) for La Vista Del Rio. 

Exh. 4, Property Categorization Worksheet. 

87. In making a suitability determination, RD evaluates the property and uses the 

Worksheet to determine whether the property is still needed in the program. In making its 

determination, RD considers nine factors: ownership, management, health or safety, physical 

standards/obsolescence, transition events, revitalization cost vs. new/construction/replacement 

cost, market demand/vacancy/need, economic viability, and environmental influences.

88. RD’s Handbook contains guidance as to how the Agency is supposed to assess a 

property with regard to each of these factors.

89. Properties that RD determines are needed, but too expensive to preserve are 

designated Category 1 properties. Properties that RD determines are needed and can be preserved

are assigned to Category 2. Properties that RD determines are no longer needed in the program 

as determined by the local affordable housing market or are too expensive for the owner to 
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maintain as determined by the financial condition of the property are assigned to Category 3.

90. With regard to ownership, the RD handbook requires RD to assess “whether 

ownership has been uncooperative and non-compliant with Agency requirements.” However, the 

La Vista Del Rio Worksheet lacks such an assessment. 

91. With regard to management, the RD handbook requires RD to assess “whether the 

property is experiencing current and/or ongoing problems with property management, either on-

site or off-site.” However, the La Vista Del Rio Worksheet lacks such an assessment. 

92. With regard to health and safety, the RD handbook advises that most health or 

safety violations “will never lead to a concern of suitability. For example, broken windows, a 

leaking roof, or exposed wiring are all easily corrected if funds are available. Health or safety 

issues that do affect suitability will likely pertain to the entire property and either cannot be 

repaired, or repair is too costly.” Regarding health and safety, the La Vista Del Rio Worksheet 

identifies, “Missing fire extinguishers, Non-existent or non-illuminated Exit signs. Drug 

Paraphernalia in exterior areas, windowsills and stairways. Doors and windows are damaged.” 

93. With regard to physical standards/obsolescence, the RD handbook requires the 

Agency to assess “whether there is evidence of physical deterioration and extensive deferred 

maintenance.” However, the La Vista Del Rio Worksheet lacks such an assessment and, instead, 

contains a conclusory statement that the “[t]own has a crime and drug problem that has led to the 

demise of the property.” 

94. With regard to transition events, the handbook requires RD to assess “whether the 

property is eligible to prepay the mortgage; is reaching the expiration of tax credit eligibility; or 

is coming up on the natural maturity of the mortgage.” However, the La Vista Del Rio 
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Worksheet lacks such an assessment. 

95. With regard to revitalization cost vs. new/construction/replacement cost, the 

handbook requires RD to assess the cost to rehabilitate the property compared to building a new, 

comparable property. It further instructs that the “Agency’s share of rehabilitation costs, 

including a rehabilitation loan and the cost of revitalization loan tools if available, should not 

exceed 50 percent of the cost of new construction.” However, the La Vista Del Rio Worksheet 

lacks such an assessment, and instead contains a conclusory statement that, “Costs are high due 

to vandalism. The borrower fixes items and they are quickly destroyed by vandals. Drug and 

crime issues in this town make it a hard property to manage and make cash flow.”

96. With regard to market demand/vacancy/need, the handbook instructs RD to gather 

a market study, local economic indicators, the property’s updated budget, including a record of 

accounts receivable and accounts payable, and community input. However, the La Vista Del Rio 

Worksheet lacks any indication that the recommended information was gathered or analyzed. 

Instead, the Worksheet contains a conclusory statement that “The property is needed, but the 

borrower is unable to make it a safe place to live.” 

97. With regard to economic viability, the handbook requires RD to assess “whether 

the Borrower’s budget, rents and marketing plans are appropriate in accordance with Chapters 4 

and 7 of HB-2-3560.” The Handbook further instructs RD to determine (1) what special 

servicing efforts will be sufficient for the property to be viable; (2) whether, based upon the 

market study, local economic conditions will significantly improve in the next one to two years; 

and (3) whether the Borrower, given occupancy levels and any servicing actions, can pay 

essential expenses, adequately fund accounts, and pay the Borrower’s monthly loan payment in 
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full. However, the La Vista Del Rio Worksheet lacks such an assessment, and instead contains a 

conclusory statement that “[t]he property does not appear to be economically viable due to the 

crime and vandalism in the community. The borrower has been unable to make the property a 

safe place to live.”

98. Despite failing to complete the assessment as prescribed by the Handbook, USDA 

categorized the property as “Category 1 - needed, but too expensive to preserve.” 

C. USDA Moves Forward with Servicing Actions Against La Vista Del Rio’s 
Owner

99. On or about September 15, 2022, RD sent a letter entitled “ROUTINE NOTICE 

OF SERVICING RESULTS/CONCERNS” to WHG Partner and La Vista Del Rio Apartments, 

LP (hereinafter referred to jointly as “Borrowers”) and Bosely Management. Exh. 5, Letter from 

Miriam Haylett, Multifamily Specialist, USDA Rural Development, to John Bosley, WHG 

Partner, General Partner, La Vista Del Rio Apartments, LP, Bosley Management of AZ, Inc., 

Routine Notice of Servicing Results/Concerns (Sept. 15, 2022). The letter documented several

“issues of great concern” at La Vista Del Rio that were observed during the USDA inspection on 

September 8, 2022. Finally, the letter noted that the Borrowers and Bosley Management were in 

violation of RD regulations and agreements with regard to physical maintenance and 

preservation of the property. 

100. The Notice required Mr. Bosley, as the agent for the Borrowers and Bosley 

Management, to contact the office within 15 days to inform RD of the corrective actions taken or 

planned to correct the areas of concern. 

101. The Borrowers and Bosley Management proposed a Workout Plan (WOP) to 

USDA on September 26, 2022. In the WOP, they stated they had requested maximum reasonable 
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rent every year. They also stated that the current occupancy rate was then 81% based on 39 out 

of 48 units being occupied, and that there were sufficient applicants to fill all vacancies. Exh. 6,

Special Servicing Workout Plan (Sept. 26, 2022).

102. RD did not approve the WOP for a number of reasons including that it did not 

“provide a timeline of when we can expect all the concerns listed in our first letter will be 

resolved” and “this property does not appear to be economically viable, without a substantial

borrower contribution, considering all of the deferred maintenance and health, sanitary and 

safety issues that this property poses.” Exh. 7, Letter from Miriam Haylett, Multifamily 

Specialist, USDA Rural Development, to John Bosley, WHG Partner, General Partner, La Vista 

Del Rio Apartments, LP, Bosley Management of AZ, Inc., Notification of Intent to Pursue More 

Forceful Servicing Actions - Revised Servicing Letter #3 (Jan. 17, 2023).

103. On October 14, 2022, RD advised the Borrowers and Bosley Management of the 

deficiencies in the WOP and requested to discuss them during the October 18, 2022,

teleconference that had been scheduled. RD also required that the health and safety 

noncompliance issues be resolved within 10 days. 

104. The Borrowers and Bosley Management submitted another WOP on or about 

October 28, 2022. 

105. RD rejected the revised WOP on or about December 9, 2022, for the same reasons 

that it rejected the initial WOP.

106. On or about January 13, 2023, the Borrowers and Bosley Management sent 

USDA a third revised WOP for La Vista Del Rio, and advised RD, “I don’t (sic) find regulations 

that support the requirement of an additional borrower financial contribution to achieve 
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economic viability.” Exh. 8, Email from Miriam Haylett to John Bosley (Jan. 17, 2023).

107. On January 17, 2023, USDA again denied the proposed WOP submitted by the 

Borrowers and Bosley Management for the same reasons it rejected the prior WOPs and stated 

that an owner contribution may be necessary because the property was not eligible for a 

Multifamily Preservation and Revitalization Loan. USDA stated further action would be taken, 

including potentially suing for specific performance, if the Borrowers and Bosley Management 

did not get them a satisfactory plan within 15 days. Exh. 7.

D. RD’s Unlawful Prepayment Approval of LVDR and Subsequent Actions 
and Omissions

108. On March 17, 2023, RD emailed La Vista Del Rio Apartments, LP an 

acceleration notice for La Vista Del Rio, which also advised of its right to appeal the acceleration 

decision. Exh. 9, Email from Miriam Haylett to John Bosley (Mar. 17, 2023). In the email, RD 

further advised that “[t]o avoid foreclosure, it will be necessary that you extend all leases for 6 

months, sign the Restrictive Use provision, and pay the property in full.” Id.

109. Upon information and belief, the March 17, 2023, Notice advised La Vista Del 

Rio Apartments, LP that its failure to comply with the prepayment requirements, submit payment 

in full or comply with any arrangements agreed to with RD, will not cancel the effect of the 

notice. In addition, any such payment is subject to agency regulations governing payments in 

full.

110. No notice regarding the loan acceleration was sent to the residents of La Vista Del 

Rio. 

111. By failing to notify the residents of the loan acceleration, RD effectively denied 
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them their right to appeal either the loan acceleration or prepayment decisions. In addition, RD’s 

failure limited the residents’ participation in an appeal to one filed by the property owner, and 

here, the owner did not file an appeal. 

112. Contrary to its obligation under ELIHPA, RD did not notify the tenants prior to its 

decision to approve the prepayment of La Vista Del Rio’s loan.

113. In accordance with ELIHPA, RD conditioned the prepayment of La Vista Del 

Rio’s Section 515 loan on use restrictions being placed on the property.

114. The restrictive use covenant that was executed for La Vista Del Rio is used for 

properties that have been approved to prepay where RD found under ELIHPA that prepayment 

would have no impact on minorities but there is not an adequate supply of housing. In other 

words, RD’s approval of La Vista Del Rio’s prepayment subject to use restrictions, means that 

pursuant to ELIHPA, RD must have found that there was no material impact on minority housing 

opportunities, but that there was a need for comparable affordable housing in the community. 

115. On information and belief, RD found that there was no material impact on 

minority housing opportunities even though:

According to U.S. Census Bureau estimates for Española in 2020, of the 10,526 

persons residing in Española, 83% were Hispanic, 2.8% were Native American, and 

1% were Asian. The Census also estimated that 18.9% of Española lives below the 

poverty line, including 20.1% of Native Americans and 19.6% of Latinos.

As of March 17, 2023, 97% of La Vista Del Rio’s 63 residents were Hispanic. 

As of September 17, 2023, 94% of La Vista Del Rio’s 35 residents were Hispanic.

116. On information and belief, pursuant to ELIHPA, RD determined that there was 
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insufficient alternative affordable housing around Española to house RD residents.

117. In fact, on November 15, 2022, RD performed an Area Market Rent Study for 

Española, New Mexico, and found the vacancy rate to be very low in the area. Exh. 10, Area 

Market Rent Study for Española, New Mexico. The Study found only a single one-bedroom 

available for rent, which was in a mobile home and being advertised at $1,050 per month, which 

was nearly double the $675 rent for a one-bedroom apartment at La Vista Del Rio. The study 

found only a single available two-bedroom unit for rent in Española, which was in a mobile 

home and being advertised at $1,200 per month, nearly double the $795 rent being charged for a 

two-bedroom apartment at La Vista Del Rio. Other than those two rooms, the closest unit 

available for rent was a half-hour drive away in Embudo, a town with no grocery stores or 

schools. 

118. The three closest RD multi-family developments are located in Taos which is 45 

miles and approximately over an hour drive away. On information and belief, there were 

waitlists at all these RD developments. 

119. Similarly, a 2022 New Mexico Mortgage Finance Authority Report noted that 

despite being a hub for rural communities, Española has an aging housing stock with most 

apartments built in the 1970s, and no Low-Income Housing Tax Credit housing built in over 20 

years. 

120. On information and belief, RD approved the La Vista Del Rio prepayment 

without notifying the residents that it had determined that the prepayment will not have a 

material or disproportional impact on minority housing opportunities and that, because there was 

inadequate affordable housing in the community, the owner could only prepay the RD loan 
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subject to use restrictions protecting the current tenants.

121. On information and belief, RD never held a tenant meeting at La Vista Del Rio 

after it approved the prepayment of the RD loans.

122. Pursuant to the settlement agreement in Acosta v. Vilsack, on September 27, 2023, 

RD updated its notices to tenants to advise them that: 

If the owner was approved to pay the USDA loan in full with a restrictive use 
covenant…, until you voluntarily move, your rent will continue to be calculated in the 
same manner as it was prior to the owner paying the USDA loan in full.

Regardless of whether you apply for and receive a Rural Development Voucher, the 
restrictive use covenant provides you the right to pursue legal enforcement of the 
recorded restrictive use covenant, until released by USDA.

123. On information and belief, since the beginning of Fiscal Year 2006, RD has never 

developed a form letter to owners of Section 515 developments that have been prepaid subject to 

use restrictions that detail their obligation to set and maintain rents for residents who received 

Rental Assistance prior to the prepayment in accordance with RD regulations that set and 

maintain their rents at 30% of adjusted household income.

E. RD Offers RD Vouchers To La Vista Del Rio Residents Due to 
Prepayment

124. On March 18, 2023, an internal message between USDA employees requested 

exceptional authority to offer RD Vouchers and Letters of Priority Entitlement (LOPE) to La 

Vista Del Rio tenants prior to the mortgage pay off. Exh. 11, Email from Miriam Haylett to 

Robert Hawkes and Becki Meyer (Mar. 18, 2023). On or about March 21, 2023, RD notified La 

Vista Del Rio tenants that “the prepayment or foreclosure of your apartment complex occurred 

on 03/17/2023.” Exh. 12, Letter from USDA Rural Development to Larry Mondragon, Rural 
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Development Voucher Information – Eligibility and Voucher Amount Determination (Mar. 21, 

2023) and USDA Rural Development to Guadalupe Chavez, Rural Development Voucher 

Package (Apr. 26, 2023).

125. The March 21, 2023, letter further explained that tenants’ rents may increase, that 

they may be eligible for a LOPE to move to other USDA housing, that they may transfer their 

rental assistance if they move to another USDA property, or that they may be eligible for RD 

Vouchers. However, the letter fails to mention anything about the use restrictions, which require 

that tenants benefit from the same terms and conditions they have under the 515 and Rental 

Assistance programs, including the automatic renewal of their existing 12-month leases. 

126. Prior to receiving the notice from RD, Bosley Management sent a letter to 

residents dated March 15, 2023, which advised that the apartment complex would be closed 

starting April 1, 2023, due to crime. The letter stated that the doors would be locked and that the 

utilities would be shut off. Exh. 13, Notice from La Vista Del Rio Apartments, LP to Residents 

re: Closure of Complex (Mar. 15, 2023).

127. RD’s March 21, 2023, letter did not advise the residents that they should ignore 

the March 15, 2023 letter from Bosley Management that the property would be closing and the 

doors would be locked.

128. On or about March 22, 2023, RD sent the Borrowers a cease-and-desist letter with 

regard to the March 15, 2023 notice advising tenants to vacate La Vista Del Rio. 

129. On March 23, 2023, La Vista Del Rio Apartments, LP sent a letter notifying the 

residents of La Vista Del Rio that “Rural Development demands that this complex remain open,” 

but advised them to still vacate their apartments, and stated residents would be “totally
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responsible” for their safety. By that time, only 34 units were occupied. Exh. 14, Notice from La 

Vista Del Rio Apartments, LP re: Closure of Complex Cancelled (Mar. 23, 2023).

130. That same day, residents from La Vista Del Rio organized a community meeting 

with state and county officials, staff members from the New Mexico congressional delegation, 

and local housing advocates. USDA was invited to, but did not, attend this meeting.

131. On October 8, 2023, USDA RD sent a letter to tenants who had not completed an

RD Voucher Request for Tenant Approval. It stated that tenants must complete and return those 

documents by October 23, 2023 “in order to receive a (sic) housing assistance.” 

132. Due to the conflicting information that they received from RD and the Borrowers, 

residents were unsure whether they were going to have to leave their homes.

F. The Prepayment and Sale of La Vista Del Rio

133. On information and belief, neither the Borrowers nor RD ever publicly listed the 

complex for sale and did not contact any nonprofit organizations or public bodies about 

purchasing the property. However, at least three offers were made to purchase La Vista Del Rio. 

134. First, on March 23, 2023, the CEO of the Española Pathways Shelter, Cristian 

Madrid, contacted John Bosley (Mr. Bosely) to inquire about purchasing La Vista Del Rio. 

Española Pathways Shelter sought to purchase the property because of the desperate need for

affordable housing in Española. They hoped to preserve this important supply of affordable 

housing and reduce the risk of increased homelessness. 

135. Second, the City of Española also attempted to buy the property, and on March 

30, 2023, Mr. Bosley sent USDA an offer from the City to purchase La Vista Del Rio. 

136. Third, on April 10, 2023, Mr. Bosley sent RD offers from Isaac Sandoval of 
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Lucred Investments to purchase La Vista Del Rio and Santa Clara Apartments.

137. On April 11, 2023, Mr. Bosley accepted the offer submitted by the City of 

Española to purchase La Vista Del Rio.

138. On or about April 12, 2023, Isaac Sandoval withdrew his offer to purchase La 

Vista Del Rio upon learning that the Borrowers had already signed a purchase agreement for La 

Vista Del Rio with the City of Española. 

139. On April 13, 2023, the City of Española informed the residents of La Vista Del 

Rio that they had purchased the property, and that residents did not need to leave the property. 

However, on August 22, 2023, the Española City Council voted to not purchase the property. 

140. On August 25, 2023, the Borrowers entered into a purchase agreement to sell La 

Vista Del Rio to La Vista Del Rio 1 LLC for $550,000. Exh. 15, Purchase Agreement Offer 

(Aug. 25, 2023).

141. On or about August 30, 2023, the building manager, Adela Y. Cordova, told 

residents that they would have to leave the property by the end of the week.

142. On September 6, 2023, Mr. Bosley signed a Restrictive Use Covenant (use 

restriction) regarding the La Vista Del Rio Apartments, which was recorded by the Santa Fe 

County Clerk on October 23, 2023. The use restriction is for properties that have been approved 

to prepay where RD found that prepayment would have no impact on minorities but there is not 

an adequate supply of housing. Exh. 16, Restrictive Use Covenant (Sept. 6, 2023).

143. The use restriction contains a use requirement and states in relevant part that: 

a. “The Owner, and any successors in interest, agree to use the Property 

in compliance with 42 U.S.C. 1484 or 1485, whichever is applicable, 
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and 7 CFR Part 3560, and any other applicable regulations and 

amendments, for the purpose of housing program eligible very low-,

low-, or moderate income tenants.” 

b. “The Agency and program eligible tenants or applicants may enforce 

these restrictions as long as the Agency has not terminated the 

Restrictive Use Agreement.” 

144. On or about September 15, 2023, La Vista Del Rio 1 LLC purchased La Vista Del 

Rio for $550,000 and assumed the existing residential leases. Exh. 15. Shortly thereafter they 

transferred ownership to Manzanilla Villa Española Valley, LLC. Exh. 17, Warranty Deed (Sept. 

25, 2023). 

145. On or about September 26, 2023, RD advised the residents of La Vista Del Rio 

that it had accelerated the loan and received the final mortgage payment of the debt owed to the 

government, and that residents could apply for RD Vouchers to assist them in paying the rent 

and apply for a LOPE. Exh. 18, Letter from USDA Rural Development to Guadalupe Chavez

(Sept. 26, 2023). In this letter, RD also advised residents that it had “filed a ‘Restrictive Use 

Covenant – The Last Existing Tenant’ protecting the tenants who are living at the property on the 

day the USDA loan was paid in full.” The letter further advised that “protected tenants’ rents will 

continue to be calculated as if the property were still in the Rural Development program, for as 

long as the tenant continues to live at the property. The owner also has agreed to keep the 

apartment a suitable place to live. Any tenant, as well as Rural Development, may enforce the 

restrictive use covenant.”

146. The letter stated that tenants only had ten months from the date of the loan 
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payment to request a voucher. 

147. However, the letter did not state that the residents have a right to appeal RD’s 

decisions to accelerate the loan or to allow the prepayment of the loan.

G. Post-Sale Ownership and Communications with Plaintiffs

148. On information and belief, the development was purchased and quickly passed 

between three LLCs with similar membership. All three of these LLCs had a mailing address of 

1910 Avenida Canada, Española, NM 87532, which is also the address of the domicile of James 

and Jennifer Gomez.

149. La Vista Del Rio was transferred from La Vista Del Rio 1 LLC to Manzana Villa 

Española Valley LLC. Manzana Villa Española Valley LLC consisted of members: James 

Gomez; Jennifer Gomez Robert Montoya; Chad Williams; and Andrew Gallegos.

150. On September 16, 2023, Manzana Villa issued a press release which stated, “[w]e 

will continue to provide housing for all existing law-abiding tenants in good standing for as long 

as they wish to reside at the apartments. To help achieve this commitment to our tenants, the 

company will be offering a limited number of reduced rate units for members of law 

enforcement.” The letter also stated the LLC intended to continue working with USDA. Exh. 19,

Press Release, Manzana Villa, Manzana Villa Announces the acquisition of the La Vista Del Rio 

Apartment Complex in Española, NM (Sept. 16, 2023).

151. On September 25, 2023, the complex was conveyed from Manza Villa Española 

LLC to Villas de Avenida Canada, LLC. James Gomez, Jennifer Gomez, and Chad Williams 

created Villas de Avenida Canada, LLC.

152. Despite the presence of the use restrictions protecting tenants from rent increases 
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and evictions without cause, the manager has repeatedly threatened tenants with increased rent 

and eviction. 

153. For example, Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada and their agents told Ms. 

Romero and Ms. Velarde that their rent would increase if they did not secure additional 

assistance from USDA, and that they were running out of time to receive vouchers from USDA. 

Ms. Romero and Ms. Velarde cannot afford to pay a higher rent amount.

154. Plaintiffs have made multiple requests to Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada 

and their agents regarding the habitability conditions that exist within the common areas and 

individual apartments at La Vista Del Rio. Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada have failed to 

make repairs at apartments, including apartments where the resident obtained an RD voucher.

There are still many issues in the common areas, including piles of trash, lack of lighting, 

missing or outdated fire extinguishers, doors that do not seal properly, and cockroach infestation. 

At the same time, most, if not all, of the vacant apartments have been renovated and are in the 

process of being rented to new tenants and security cameras have been installed in the hallways. 

155. Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada has retained the same building manager 

employed by the prior owners.

156. Ms. Romero has a hole in her wall, a stove that is not functional, heat that does 

not work in some rooms, and a cockroach infestation.

157. Ms. Velarde has persistent mold that cannot be abated by constant cleaning and is 

impacting her children's health. Her apartment does not have functioning smoke detectors, a 

working air conditioner, or a weatherproof door. Her home also has large holes in the flooring.

The electric often goes out, and always goes out if she attempts to turn on the air conditioning. 
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158. Ms. Velarde sent a letter to defendant Villas de Avenida Canada requesting a 

meeting to settle a dispute in accordance with 7 C.F.R. § 3560.160. 

159. On March 21, 2024, a meeting was held with Ms. Velarde and James Gomez of 

Villas de Avenida Canada. At that meeting, Ms. Velarde again requested that she be moved to a 

new apartment due to the issues in her apartment. Mr. Gomez agreed to move her to a new 

apartment as soon as possible, acknowledging the mold was an issue that needed to be fixed. He 

also stated that the mold was being removed in the renovated apartments. However, Mr. Gomez

failed to move Ms. Velarde or remedy the conditions at the apartment. Instead, he rented the 

apartment to a new market rate tenant. At the grievance meeting Ms. Velarde also requested that 

defendant Villas de Avenida Canada stop threatening rent increases that would violate the 

restrictive use covenant. The owner agreed to stop the threats, yet has continued to tell other

tenants that their rent will be increased to market value when their lease is renewed. 

160. Villas de Avenida Canada has filed in New Mexico state magistrate court to evict 

Ms. Velarde due to her refusal to obtain an RD voucher. 

161. RD has approved the use of RD vouchers for multiple tenants who have remained 

in the apartments, including Ms. Romero. 

162. Tenants, including Ms. Romero, only applied for an RD voucher due to threats by 

the landlord to raise rent.

163. RD conducted a virtual inspection of Ms. Romero’s apartment, and subsequently 

approved her to use a voucher at her current unit, even though the approved apartments have 

ongoing habitability issues which in part triggered RD’s loan acceleration. No issues have been 

fixed at Ms. Romero’s apartment. She still has a hole in her wall, a stove that does not work, heat 
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that does not work, and outlets that do not work. 

164. Federal Defendant and Villas de Avenida Canada required Ms. Romero to sign a 

new lease to receive the RD Voucher. The new lease denies her the protections she received 

under the Section 515 program and restrictive use covenant. The new lease also does not protect 

Ms. Romero from eviction at the end of her lease term. Further, Ms. Romero’s rent increased 

nearly 70% to $360 per month after signing the lease. Exh. 20, Form Residential Lease, Villas de 

Avenida Canada.

165. On or about April 16, 2024, Plaintiff Chavez received a letter from USDA RD 

stating that his voucher assistance was being terminated as of that date. 

166. Plaintiffs have substantially performed and complied with the terms of their 

residential leases.

167. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law with respect to any of their claims.

H. Class Action Allegations

168. Named Plaintiffs Guadalupe Chavez, Lorenza Romero, Alice Sanchez, Susie 

Trujillo, and Petra Velarde bring this action on behalf of themselves and all others similarly 

situated pursuant to Rule 23(a), (b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The 

proposed 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) class is defined as, “All current and former residents of La Vista 

Del Rio Apartments since September 8, 2022, who are or were eligible to receive low-income 

housing assistance under the United States Department of Agriculture’s Sections 515 and 521 

Programs.”

169. Numerosity. The class is so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable. Upon information and belief, the class is comprised of at least 70 individuals. The 
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putative class members are unlikely to press their claims on an individual basis because as 

residents of low-income affordable housing, all putative class members have limited incomes, 

and therefore limited access to legal counsel to have their claims redressed.

170. Commonality and Predominance. Common questions of fact and law predominate 

over questions affecting individual class members. Defendants are expected to raise common 

defenses to these claims, including denying that their actions violated the law. Questions of law 

and fact common to the class include:

a. Whether USDA properly authorized the prepayment of the USDA 

515 loan consistent with 42 U.S.C. § 1472(c)(5)(G)(ii);

b. Whether the USDA acted in concert with the obligations to notify 

residents and offer them an opportunity to appeal any 515 loan 

acceleration or loan prepayment as set forth in 42 U.S.C. § 

1480(g), 7 U.S.C. § 6991 and USDA regulations published at 7 

C.F.R. Part 11 and consistent with the Due Process Clause of the 

5th Amendment;

c. Whether the Private and Federal Defendants acted in accordance 

with the federally imposed use restrictions and 42 U.S.C. § 1485 

and its implementing regulations with respect to strictly leasing to 

low-income households, setting shelter costs for residents, rent 

increases, and for cause eviction protections; and

d. Whether the Private Defendants breached the residential leases and 

violated state law with the class members by not maintaining 
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habitable conditions, threatening to withhold services, issuing 

notices to move out without cause, and threatening rent increases.

171. Typicality and Adequacy. The Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the class as a 

whole. All of the Plaintiffs’ claims arise from the same unlawful policies and practices: USDA 

and the Private Defendants’ failure to abide by the federally mandated prepayment requirements 

for USDA’s Section 515 program, including the restrictive use covenant imposed as a result of 

the prepayment. The Plaintiffs do not present claims that are unique to themselves and instead 

bring claims typical to the class. Proposed class representatives and class counsel will fairly and 

adequately protect the interests of the class as a whole. Plaintiffs do not have any interests 

antagonistic to those of other class members. By filing this action, Plaintiffs have displayed an 

interest in vindicating their rights, as well as the claims of others who are similarly situated. 

Plaintiffs are represented by experienced counsel. 

172. Superiority. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of this controversy because it will: (a) avoid the heavy burden of multiple, 

duplicative suits; (b) avoid the virtually impossible task of getting all class members to intervene 

as party-plaintiffs in this action; (c) allow the Court, upon adjudication of Defendants’ liability, 

to determine the claims of all class members; and (d) allow the Court to enter appropriate final 

monetary relief with respect to the class as a whole. 

173. Injunctive and Declaratory Relief. The Defendants have acted or refused to act on 

grounds that apply generally to the Rule 23(b)(2) class as a whole, so that final injunctive or 

declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the class as a whole. More specifically, Federal and 

Private Defendants have unlawfully moved forward on the prepayment of the 515 loan, which 
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has jeopardized the housing and housing affordability of the class.

VI. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2) Against Federal 
Defendant

RD’s Decision to Accelerate the Loan for La Vista Del Rio Was Arbitrary and Capricious 
and Contrary to Law

174. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-59, 82-123 and 168-173 of this 

Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

175. In deciding whether the property should exit the program and the loan should be 

accelerated, RD failed to appropriately assess the nine factors contained in the Agency’s 

Handbook: ownership, management, health or safety, physical standards/obsolescence, transition 

events, revitalization cost vs. new/construction/replacement cost, market demand/vacancy/need, 

economic viability, and environmental influences.

176. Contrary to the Agency’s Handbook, which advises that a property classified as 

Category 1 should be assessed to determine whether the property qualifies for prepayment, 

USDA determined that the appropriate servicing strategy for La Vista Del Rio was loan 

acceleration.

177. RD’s regulations provide that the Agency will consider whether the borrower is 

forcing an acceleration to avoid the prepayment process under ELIHPA. 7 C.F.R. § 3560.456(a).

178. If the borrower is seeking to avoid the prepayment process, then RD will consider 

alternatives other than acceleration.

179. On information and belief, the Agency did not determine whether the owner of La 
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Vista Del Rio was forcing an acceleration to avoid the prepayment process. 

180. On information and belief, the Agency did not consider alternatives other than 

acceleration. 

181. The Agency’s practices are arbitrary and capricious, not in accordance with the 

law, and must be set aside in accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2) Against Federal 
Defendant 

RD’s Failure to Determine the Impact of Prepayments on Minority Housing Opportunities 
Was Arbitrary and Capricious and Contrary to Law

182. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-59, 82-85, 108-123, 133-147 and 

168-173 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

183. After it accelerated the loan, the Agency assessed La Vista Del Rio for 

prepayment in accordance with ELIHPA and RD’s regulations and handbooks. 

184. After accelerating the loan for La Vista Del Rio, the Agency took servicing 

actions in line with a prepayment under ELIHPA by:

a. Sending letters to La Vista Del Rio residents on March 21, 2023,

and September 26, 2023 that they were eligible for RD Vouchers 

due to the prepayment of the loan;

b. Conducting a market analysis to determine whether there was an 

adequate supply of housing in or near Santa Fe, New Mexico; and

c. Conditioning the prepayment on use restrictions and having the 

borrower execute the Restrictive Use Covenant for prepayments 
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that is used where there is “No Impact on Minorities but There is 

Not an Adequate Supply of Housing.”

185. The Agency deviated from its obligations under ELIHPA, RD regulations and the 

handbook by failing to properly determine whether the prepayment would “disproportionately 

adversely affect” minority housing opportunities.

186. Had it properly determined that the prepayment would disproportionately 

adversely affect minority housing opportunities, the Agency would have been obligated to allow

the owner to sell La Vista Del Rio to a new owner who was willing to continue to operate it as 

affordable housing under the Section 515 program.

187. The Agency violated 5 U.S.C. § 706(2) by:

a. Applying regulations that are inconsistent with the requirement of 

42 U.S.C. § 1472(c)(5)(G)(ii), which only allows RD to approve an 

owner’s prepayment upon a determination that the prepayment 

would not “materially affect” minority housing opportunities; and

b. Approving the owner’s prepayment upon a faulty and unlawful

determination that the prepayment would not “disproportionately 

adversely affect” minority housing opportunities 7 C.F.R. 

3560.658(b).

c. Allowing the sale of the property to a new owner who failed to 

operate the property in accordance with Section 515 and that 

resulted in the termination of all subsidies to the property.

188. The Agency’s actions are arbitrary and capricious, not in accordance with the law,
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and must be set aside in accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2) Against Federal
Defendant

RD Violated Plaintiffs’ Regulatory, Statutory, and 5th Amendment 
Due Process Rights

189. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-59, 82-85, 108-123, 133-147, and 

168-173 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

190. 42 U.S.C. § 1480(g), 7 U.S.C. § 6991, and USDA regulations published at 7 

C.F.R. Part 11 A require RD to give persons, including tenants, whose assistance is denied, 

reduced or terminated, written notice of the reasons for the denial, reduction or termination of 

assistance and must provide them the right to appeal the adverse decisions made by agency staff 

to the U.S.D.A. National Appeals Division (NAD).

191. The Agency violated 5 U.S.C. § 706(1) and (2) by:

a. Failing to advise the residents of the Agency’s decisions to 

accelerate the loan for La Vista Del Rio and allow the owner to 

prepay the loan;

b. Withholding the residents’ right to appeal the Agency’s decision to 

accelerate the loan by not informing them of their due process 

rights under 7 U.S.C. § 6991, 42 U.S.C. § 1480(g), and 7 C.F.R, 

Part 11;

c. Withholding the residents’ right to appeal the agency’s decision to 

approve the prepayment of La Vista Del Rio by not informing 
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them of their due process rights under 7 U.S.C. § 6991, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1480(g), and 7 C.F.R, Part 11; and

d. Failing to provide residents with their 5th Amendment 

Constitutional right to due process.

192. Federal Defendant’s actions violated plaintiffs’ statutory, regulatory and 

constitutional due process rights, and must be set aside in accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2) Against Federal 
Defendant

RD’s Administration of the Rural Voucher Program is Contrary to Law and Arbitrary and 
Capricious

193. The Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-59, 82-85, 122-132, and 148-

173 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

194. The Agency violated 5 U.S.C. § 706 by:

a. Engaging in a pattern and practice of issuing RD vouchers to 

residents remaining in developments that are prepaid subject to use 

restrictions, without regard to whether under the Agency’s current 

implementation of the RD Voucher program, the remaining 

residents face displacement or financial hardship by staying in the 

prepaid development, in violation of ELIHPA’s prepayment 

restrictions. 

b. Requiring the use of an interlineated HUD Section 8 voucher HAP 

contract and tenancy addendum that, in cases of prepayments made 
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subject to use restrictions, violate these restrictions and the rights 

the residents that are guaranteed under RD regulations codified at 7 

C.F.R. §§ 3560.156-160.

195. The Agency also operates the voucher program in an arbitrary and capricious 

manner, in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706, by not providing resident with a copy of the voucher 

guide or otherwise ensuring that both residents and owners have a clear and full understanding of

the options residents have for staying in their homes including the residents’ right to remain in 

their units under their current leases subject to use restrictions:

196. The Federal Defendants’ practices violate 5 U.S.C. § 706(2) because they are 

contrary to law and arbitrary and capricious.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Breach of Contract, Violation of New Mexico’s Unfair Trade Practices Act, and New 
Mexico’s Uniform Owner Resident Relations Act Against Defendant Villas de Avenida 

Canada by All Plaintiffs

Villas De Avenida Canada Made Unlawful Threats of Rent Increases

197. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-85, 124-173 of this Complaint as 

though fully set forth herein.

198. Owners of Section 515 developments that have been prepaid subject to use 

restrictions are obligated to maintain rents for residents who received Rental Assistance prior to 

the prepayment in accordance with RD regulations that set and maintain their rents at 30% of 

adjusted household income.

199. Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada violated the 2023 Use Restriction, N.M.S.A. 

1978, § 57-12-3, the Plaintiffs’ leases, and N.M.S.A. 1978 § 47-8-36 when they threatened to 
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increase Plaintiffs’ rent and insisted that the Plaintiffs secure RD Vouchers even though:

a. The 2023 Use Restriction requires that Defendant Villas de 

Avenida Canada continue to operate La Vista Del Rio as RD 

Section 515 affordable housing (consistent with 42 U.S.C. § 1485 

and its implementing regulations) for very-low, low, and moderate-

income residents and applicants and the 2023 Use Restriction 

requires the owner to operate the housing as Section 515 affordable 

housing for the benefit of income eligible residents;

b. The residential leases bar the threatened rent increases or changes 

in the terms of their tenancies;

c. N.M.S.A. 1978, § 57-12-2(D), prohibits making false or 

misleading statements of fact concerning the price or good of a 

service or failing to state a material fact if doing so deceives or 

tends to deceive and prohibits failing to deliver the quality of 

goods or services contracted; and

d. N.M.S.A. 1978, § 47-8-36(A), prohibits threats or attempts to 

remove a resident by the landlord without a court order.

200. As residents of a development prepaid subject to use restrictions, Plaintiffs gain 

no financial or material benefit from securing an RD Voucher. Plaintiffs who are forced to secure 

RD Vouchers will ultimately pay more for their shelter costs and have to enter into new leases 

subject to a Housing Assistance Payment Contract and Tenancy Addendum, which strip them of 

rights guaranteed under their current leases and use restrictions imposed on September 6, 2023.
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SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Breach of Contract and Violation of New Mexico’s Uniform Owner Resident Relations Act 
Against Private Defendants

Private Defendants Failed to Maintain the Property in a Decent, Safe and Sanitary Manner

201. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-85, 99-107, and 133-173 of this 

Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

202. Private Defendants violated the 2023 Use Restriction, N.M.S.A. 1978, § 47-8-20,

and the Plaintiffs’ leases when they failed to maintain the property in a decent, safe and sanitary 

manner. 

203. New Mexico’s UORRA, N.M.S.A 1978 § 47-8-20, requires Private Defendants to

substantially comply with minimum housing codes, keep the premises and common areas in safe 

condition, and maintain in working order electric, ventilation, air condition, and other facilities.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Breach of Contract and Violation of New Mexico’s Unfair Trade Practices Act and New 
Mexico’s Uniform Owner Resident Relations Act Against Defendant Bosley Management

Bosley Management Provided Fraudulent Notice of Eviction and Diminution of Services

204. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-85, 124-132, and 168-173 of this 

Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

205. Section 515 owners cannot evict a tenant without good cause and the use 

restriction requires that the residential leases automatically renew annually.

206. Defendant Bosley Management sent a letter to residents advising that the 

apartment complex would be closed “due to crime”, that the doors would be locked, and that the 

utilities would be shut off.

Case 1:24-cv-00572   Document 1   Filed 06/06/24   Page 47 of 116



Page 48 of 53

207. Defendant Bosley Management did not have good cause to evict every tenant 

living at La Vista Del Rio. 

208. Moreover, any eviction of tenants must be done in accordance with state law.

a. New Mexico’s Unfair Practices Act (UPA), N. M. S. A. 1978, § 

57-12-2(D), prohibits failing to deliver the quality of goods or 

services contracted.

b. New Mexico’s Uniform Owner Resident Relation Act, N. M. S. A. 

1978, § 47-8-36(A), prohibits threats or attempts to remove a 

resident by the landlord without a court order.

209. As a result of Defendant Bosley Management’s actions, residents feared that

whether they had to vacate their homes before their leases ended or food cause requirements 

were met.

210. As a result of Defendant Bosley Management’s actions, many residents moved 

out of their homes.

VII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

A. A declaratory judgment pronouncing that:

i. The actions and omissions of Federal Defendant are arbitrary, capricious, and 

otherwise not in accordance with the law and without observance of procedure 

required by law under the USDA statutes, implementing regulations, and 

handbooks, in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706; 

ii. Federal Defendant’s prepayment regulations applying a disproportionate effect 

rather than a material effect on minority housing opportunities, are unlawful and 
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invalid as contrary to ELIHPA, 42 U.S.C. § 1472(c)(5), and in violation of the 

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706;

iii. The actions and omissions of Federal Defendant violate the Fifth Amendment to 

the U.S. Constitution, 7 U.S.C. § 6991, 42 U.S.C. § 1480(g), and 7 C.F.R. Part 11;

iv. Federal Defendant’s use of the interlineated HUD Section 8 Voucher HAP 

contract and tenancy addendum violate the use restriction and the owner’s 

obligation to operate the housing consistent with the requirement of 42 U.S.C. §

1485 and RD Regulations published at 7 C.F.R. Part 3560;

v. Federal Defendant’s actions and omissions with respect to the operation of the 

Voucher Program are contrary to law and otherwise arbitrary and capricious;

vi. Federal Defendant’s acts and omissions are in violation of the 2023 Use 

Restrictions;

vii. The 2023 Use Restrictions remain in full force and effect; 

viii. Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada’s actions and omissions are in violation of 

the 2023 Use Restrictions; 

ix. Private Defendants’ actions and omissions violate the Plaintiffs’ residential lease, 

and New Mexico state law, N.M.S.A 1978 § 47-8-20, N.M. S. A. 1978 § 47-8-36,

N.M. S. A. 1978 § 57-12-2.

B. Enter a preliminary and permanent injunction, without bond, enforcing those declarations 

and requiring: 

i. The operation of La Vista Del Rio in conformance with the 2023 Use 

Restrictions, and all statutes and regulations applicable to Section 515 housing, 
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including regulations set out at 7 C.F.R Part 3560, including without limitation 

complying with setting shelter costs (rent plus tenant-paid utilities) to reflect no 

more than 30% of the tenant’s adjusted monthly income, rent increase limitations, 

for cause eviction protections, tenant grievance rights, and other tenant 

protections; 

ii. Federal Defendant not to apply the standards set forth in the prepayment 

regulations, 7 C.F.R. § 3560.658(b), to the extent that they are inconsistent with 

the Federal Defendant’s obligations to ensure that there is no material effect on 

minority housing opportunities as a result of a prepayment; 

iii. Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada’s compliance with the terms of the 

Plaintiffs’ residential leases, including protecting them from eviction without 

cause, displacement, termination of utility allowances, and rent increases beyond 

30% of adjusted household income for shelter costs (rent plus tenant-paid 

utilities);

iv. Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada to cease mandating that the Plaintiffs secure 

an RD Voucher or face the threat of a rent increase or enter a new lease with 

terms inferior to and in conflict with the 2023 use restriction;

v. If a Plaintiff has been issued an RD Voucher but has not entered into a lease 

agreement with Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada, the Agency shall 

indefinitely postpone the date by which the Plaintiff must enter into a lease and 

execute the interlineated HUD Section 8 Voucher HAP contract and tenancy 

addendum with Defendant Villas de Avenida Canada if the Plaintiff chooses to 

Case 1:24-cv-00572   Document 1   Filed 06/06/24   Page 50 of 116



Page 51 of 53

remain in their home;

vi. Federal Defendant cease the use of the interlineated HUD Section 8 Voucher 

HAP contract and tenancy addendum, including requiring the execution of these 

documents as a condition of the Plaintiffs using an RD Voucher; 

vii. Federal Defendant to stop administering the RD Voucher program in a manner 

that is contrary to law and otherwise arbitrary and capricious; and

viii. Private Defendants and any other entity or person acting on their behalf shall be 

restrained from offering to lease or leasing units at La Vista Del Rio Apartments 

to market rate tenants or tenants otherwise not eligible for Section 515 housing in 

violation of the 2023 use restrictions. 

C. Award Plaintiffs monetary damages against Defendants Villas de Avenida Canada and 

Bosley Management;

D. Award Plaintiffs actual and statutory damages against Defendants Villas de Avenida 

Canada and Bosley Management pursuant to N. M. S. A. 1978, § 57-12-10(E);

E. Award Plaintiffs actual and punitive damages against Defendants Villas De Avenida 

Canada and Bosley Management for breach of contract and breach of covenant of good 

faith and fair dealing;

F. An award of Plaintiffs’ costs and reasonable attorney’s fees; and

G. Such other and further legal and equitable relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

Dated: June 6, 2024 Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Wolfgang Bomgardner
Wolfgang Bomgardner
Attorney for Plaintiffs
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NEW MEXICO CENTER ON LAW & POVERTY
301 Edith Blvd. SE
Albuquerque NM 87102
TEL: (505) 244-2840
FAX: (505) 300-2785
E-MAIL: wolf@nmpovertylaw.org

/s/ Maria Griego
Maria Griego
Attorney for Plaintiffs
NEW MEXICO CENTER ON LAW & POVERTY
301 Edith Blvd. SE
Albuquerque NM 87102
TEL: (505) 244-2840
FAX: (505) 300-2785
EMAIL: maria@nmpovertylaw.org

/s/ Natalie N. Maxwell
Natalie N. Maxwell
Attorney for Plaintiffs
NATIONAL HOUSING LAW PROJECT
1663 Mission St., Suite 460
San Francisco, CA 94103
TEL: (415) 546-7000
FAX: (415) 546-7007
E-MAIL: nmaxwell@nhlp.org
*Pro Hac Vice

/s/ Katherine E. Walz
Katherine E. Walz
Attorney for Plaintiffs
NATIONAL HOUSING LAW PROJECT
1663 Mission St., Suite 460
San Francisco, CA 94103
TEL: (415) 546-7000
FAX: (415) 546-7007
E-MAIL: kwalz@nhlp.org
*Pro Hac Vice

/s/ Marcos Segura
Marcos Segura
Attorney for Plaintiffs
NATIONAL HOUSING LAW PROJECT
1663 Mission St., Suite 460
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San Francisco, CA 94103
TEL: (415) 546-7000
FAX: (415) 546-7007
E-MAIL: msegura@nhlp.org
*Pro Hac Vice
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TENANT PROTECTION ACTIONS 

 Provide the local Servicing Office with a current list of all tenants 
showing their adjusted incomes.  The Servicing Office will: 

(a) Notify tenants that the project is being prepaid;

(b) Send eligible tenants in the project “Letters of Priority
Entitlement  (LOPE)”, for priority placement in other Rural
Housing Service projects.

 Extend all tenant leases for 180 days after the date the accelerated loan 
was paid off at the same rental rates and terms that were in effect on the 
day of the acceleration.  (If tenant is receiving RA, the tenants’ share of 
the rent will be reflected on the lease.) 

 Execute restrictive-use provisions, as appropriate, for incorporation into 
releases of security instruments to be filed.  (If the loan was made prior to 
December 21, 1979, no restrictive-use provisions will be included in the 
releases of security instruments, unless less than one year has elapsed 
since the date the borrower had submitted a request to prepay the loan(s) 
under the provisions of RD Instruction 3560)  (NOTE:  Any tenants or 
applicants for occupancy protected by these restrictions may not have 
total shelter costs (rent and utilities) raised above 30 percent of adjusted 
income or current shelter costs, whichever is higher.)  If the loan on this 
project to build or acquire new units was made on or after December 15, 
1989, the restrictive-use provisions will remain for the term of the loan. 
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HB-3-3560
Attachment 6-A 

Page 1 of 6 
Attachment 6-A 

Property Categorization Worksheet 
(Use additional sheets as needed) 

Property Name: ______________________________________________ 
Address: _______________________________________________

_______________________________________________

Borrower Case No.:  ___________________________________________________ 
Appropriate Classification ___________          Date of classification _________ 

Factors and influences to consider when evaluating a property.  Use the sections below to comment on 
each factor or influence. 
1. Ownership:

2. Management:

____________________________________________________________________________________
(02-24-05)  SPECIAL PN 
Added (06-04-18) PN 513

La Vista Del Rio
911 Avenida Canada
Espanola, NM 87532

36-025-804155795 01-0
C 09/02/2022

LaVista Del Rio Apartments, A New Mexico Limited Partnership
WHG Partnership, its General Partner

Constance Bosley , John A. Bosley Michael Ryan

Rocky Mountain Investment A Ltd, Limited Partner

Bosley Management
566 Turner Lane

Sheridan, WY 82801

000019

(b) (4)(b) (4)(b) (4)
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HB-3-3560
Attachment 6-A  
Page 2 of 6 

3. Health or Safety:               

                  

4.  Physical Standards/Obsolesce:                 

                  

                  

                  

5:  Transition Events:                   

                  

___________________________________________________________________________________

Missing fire extinguishers, Non-existant or non-illuminated Exit signs. Drug Paraphernalia

in exterior areas, window sills and stairways. Doors and windows are damaged.

Town has a crime and drug problem that has led to the demise of the property.

Inspection took place on September 8, 2022 by Eric Siebens and Becki Meyer

Servicing letters were sent out after the inspection.
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HB-3-3560
Attachment 6-A  

Page 3 of 6

6.  Revitalization Cost vs. New Construction/Replacement Cost:   

7.  Market Demand/ Vacancy / Need: 

8. Economic Viability: 

                  

                  

____________________________________________________________________________________
(02-24-05)  SPECIAL PN 
Added (06-04-18) PN 513

Costs are high due to vandalism. The borrower fixes items and they are

quickly destroyed by vandals. Drug and crime issues in this town make

it a hard property to manage and make cash flow.

The property is needed, but the borrower is unable to make it a safe place to live.

The property does not appear to be economically viable due to the
crime and vandalism in the community. The borrower has been unable to

make the property a safe place to live.
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HB-3-3560
Attachment 6-A 
Page 4 of 6

9. Environmental Influences :

10. Other (describe unique factors/influences affecting the property):

___________________________________________________________________________________

Drug residues, Drug usage, Drug and crime issues in the community.
Inability for the community law enforcement to charge or lock up offenders.

This property is located in a town with terrible crime and drug issues.
The property is continually vandalized causing a lot of cost to the

property and making it economically nonviable for the owner.
Rural Development does not want to house people in properties that are

not safe for the occupants.
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HB-3-3560
Attachment 6-A  

Page 5 of 6 

Conclusion:

The property is categorized as:

__________ Category 1 – needed, but too expensive to preserve. 

__________ Category 2 – needed and preserve-able. 

__________ Category 3 – not need or revitalization is not financially feasible. 

By:  _____________________________________________________ Date:  __________        
(Servicing or State Official) 

____________________________________________________________________________________
(02-24-05)  SPECIAL PN 
Added (06-04-18) PN 513 

This property should exit the program. The account should be accelerated

and the tenants be given LOPE letters or vouchers.

X

Miriam Haylett 1/19/2023
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HB-3-3560
Attachment 6-A  

Page 6 of 6 

Servicing Strategy (describe servicing strategy):  

____________________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________________________

This assessment should be reviewed periodically as market, ownership and property conditions change 
frequently.

Reviewed _____________ (date & initial)   Changes noted:  ___________________________________ 

Reviewed _____________ (date & initial)   Changes noted:  ___________________________________ 

Reviewed _____________ (date & initial)   Changes noted:  ___________________________________   

____________________________________________________________________________________

Servicing Letters have been sent
Contact OGC and accelerate the loan.
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7 CFR 3560, 3560.103 Maintaining Housing Projects. (a) Physical Maintenance (1) The purpose of 
physical maintenance are the following: (i) Provide decent, safe, and sanitary housing an; and (ii) 
maintain the security of the property.      You are not providing decent, safe or sanitary housing or 
properly maintaining the loan security.  

7 CFR 3560, 3560.103 (a)(2) Borrowers are responsible for the long-term, cost-effective preservation of 
the housing project.     The housing is not being preserved.  

7 CFR 3560, 3560.103 (a)(3) At all times, borrower must maintain housing projects in compliance with 
local, state and federal laws and regulations and according to the …Agency requirements for affordable, 
decent, safe, and sanitary housing.      You have not stayed in compliance with local, state or federal laws 
or the Agency requirements for decent, safe and sanitary housing.  

7 CFR 3560, 3560.103 Housing Maintenance Standards – Maintenance Standards for Rural Development 
properties are not being met.  

Loan Agreement Section 6, Regulatory Covenants – “So long as the loan obligations remain unsatisfied, 
the partnership shall comply with all appropriate FmHA regulations”    By not providing decent, safe 
and sanitary housing, you are not complying with your loan agreement.  

Management Certification 3, “We agree to a. comply with the projects mortgage and promissory note, 
and Loan Agreement/Resolution” b. Comply with Rural Development Handbooks and other policy 
directives that relate to the Management of the project”.    By not providing decent, safe and sanitary 
housing, you are not meeting the requirements of the Management Certification.     

We are asking that you contact this office within 15 days of the date of this letter to inform us of the 
corrective actions you have taken, or plan to take, to correct the concerns listed.   All health, safety and 
maintenance violations must be addressed and resolved.   Our office address and telephone number are:    
2208 E. Chicago, Suite C, Caldwell, Idaho 83605, 208-779-3437.    

If you have any questions, please contact me at 208-779-3437. 

Sincerely, 

MMiriam Haylett 
Miriam Haylett  
Multi-Family Specialist 
West Troubled Assets Servicing Team 
Field Operations Division 

Enclosure:   Failed City of Espanola Fire Inspection Report. 
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Maintenance, Health and Safety issues including: 
 Missing Fire Extinguishers 
 Non-illuminated exit signs.  

 Drug Paraphernalia in the exterior areas, window sills  and stairways.  
 Fences and Retaining Walls - Damaged Dumpster Fence.  
 Debris and Graffiti – Garbage around the dumpster and in and around the apartment 

building including drug paraphernalia and needles.   Graffiti inside and out of the 
apartment building.  

 Swamp coolers are leaking and damaging the exterior of the building. The swamp 
coolers are rusted and past their useful life.  Some of them also had exposed wiring.  

 Doors – Damaged doors.   Exterior doors do not close properly or are damaged.      
Interior apartment doors are damaged, don’t close properly and/or have graffiti.  

 Maintenance – overall the maintenance at the property does not meet USDA, Rural 
Development standards for decent, safe and sanitary housing.  

 Flooring – Flooring in the common areas is damaged, filthy and stained.   
 Stairways – Graffiti and dirty stairways   
 Walls – Walls are damaged, dirty, and have graffiti on them.  
 Landscaping and Grounds – The area around the apartment complex has garbage, 

and weeds.    The dumpster enclosure needs to be repaired.  
 Electrical outlets in the common areas are missing covers.  

 
You are in violation of the following USDA, Rural Development regulations and agreements:  
 
7 CFR 3560, 3560.103 Maintaining Housing Projects. (a) Physical Maintenance (1) The purpose of 
physical maintenance are the following: (i) Provide decent, safe, and sanitary housing an; and (ii) 
maintain the security of the property.      You are not providing decent, safe or sanitary housing or 
properly maintaining the loan security.  
 
7 CFR 3560, 3560.103 (a)(2) Borrowers are responsible for the long-term, cost-effective preservation of 
the housing project.     The housing is not being preserved.  
 
7 CFR 3560, 3560.103 (a)(3) At all times, borrower must maintain housing projects in compliance with 
local, state and federal laws and regulations and according to the …Agency requirements for affordable, 
decent, safe, and sanitary housing.      You have not stayed in compliance with local, state or federal laws 
or the Agency requirements for decent, safe and sanitary housing.  
 
7 CFR 3560, 3560.103 Housing Maintenance Standards – Maintenance Standards for Rural Development 
properties are not being met.  
 
Loan Agreement Section 6, Regulatory Covenants – “So long as the loan obligations remain unsatisfied, 
the partnership shall comply with all appropriate FmHA regulations”    By not providing decent, safe 
and sanitary housing, you are not complying with your loan agreement.  
 
Management Certification 3, “We agree to a. comply with the projects mortgage and promissory note, 
and Loan Agreement/Resolution” b. Comply with Rural Development Handbooks and other policy 
directives that relate to the Management of the project”.    By not providing decent, safe and sanitary 
housing, you are not meeting the requirements of the Management Certification.     
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We are hopeful we can avoid the necessity of taking the steps outlined above.   Unfortunately, we will be 
forced to do so unless we hear from you within 15 days from the date of this letter.  
 
Our office address and telephone number are:    2208 E. Chicago, Suite C, Caldwell, Idaho 83605,       
208-779-3437.   My email is Miriam.Haylett@USDA.GOV.  
    
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 208-779-3437.  
 
Sincerely, 
 

MMiriam Haylett 
Miriam Haylett  
Multi-Family Specialist 
West Troubled Assets Servicing Team 
Field Operations Division 
 
EC:       Becki Meyer, Regional Director, West Field Operations Division 
 Robert Hawkes, Troubled Assets Team Lead, West Field Operations Division 
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Residential Lease Agreement 1 _______  _______
Resident(s) Initials

RESIDENTIAL LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS RESIDENTIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (hereinafter “Agreement”), is made and 
entered into as of the ____ day of _______________, 20____ by and between James Gomez 
(hereinafter designated as “Owner”, which term shall include Owner’s successors and assigns in
interest) and _____________________________________________________________________
(hereinafter “Resident”, which  term shall include all Residents, jointly and severally, and shall 
include Resident’s heirs, executors, administrators, assigns, and successors in interest).

1. PREMISES

Upon the terms and conditions herein contained, Owner does hereby rent to Resident, and Resident 
does hereby rent from Owner, the premises located at _______________________________ (the
“Premises”).

2. TERM

The term (“Term”) of this lease shall be _____________ month(s) commencing at 12:01 a.m. on
___________________, 20____ and terminating at midnight on _______________________,
20___. In the event Resident remains in possession of the Premises after the expiration of the term, 
such possession may, at the sole option of Owner, be continued as a month-to-month tenancy, upon 
the same terms and conditions as set forth in this Agreement.

3. RENT

Resident agrees and covenants with Owner to pay as rent for the Premises, without notice or 
demand, the sum of $_____________________ (______________________________________ and 
no/100’s DOLLARS) per month, commencing on the 1st day of __________________ 20____ and 
continuing on the 1st day of each month thereafter during each month of the term of this Agreement.
All monies paid by Resident to Owner shall be applied first to outstanding charges, and then to rent. 
All monies paid by Resident to Owner shall be paid by mailing to:

1910 Avendia Canada
Espanola, New Mexico 87532

4. SECURITY DEPOSIT;[LAST MONTH’S RENT]

Resident shall deliver to Owner a security deposit in the amount of $_____________________
(______________________________________ and no/100’s DOLLARS) on or before the first day 
of the term of this lease, and such sum shall be held by Owner and used to recover any losses 
incurred from Resident’s non-compliance with this Agreement including, but not limited to, 
damages, repairs, cleaning, unpaid utilities or unpaid rent. Within thirty (30) days after the end of the 
Term or Resident’s departure, whichever is later, Owner will provide to Resident a written itemized 
statement showing any deduction from the deposit and Owner shall return the balance of the deposit, 
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Residential Lease Agreement 2 _______  _______
Resident(s) Initials

if any, to Resident at the last known address.

[Owner has also received last month’s rent from Resident in the amount of $___________, which 
shall be credited against the last month’s rent under this Lease and is not an additional Security 
Deposit].

5. LATE FEES AND OTHER CHRGES

Resident shall pay Owner a late fee of five percent (5%) of the rental amount if the rent is not 
received by the fifth (5th) day of the month.  A service charge of $_________ plus late fees will be 
charged to Resident for checks returned by the bank because of insufficient funds or stop payments.
Any amount owed by Resident to Owner which is not paid when due shall bear interest at the rate of 
8.75 percent per annum from the due date of such amount.

6.  KEYS

By signing this Agreement, Resident acknowledges receipt of _____ door keys and ____ mail box 
keys to the Premises from Owner. Upon vacating the Premises at the end of this Agreement, 
Resident shall return all keys to Owner. In the event all keys are not returned by Resident to Owner 
upon termination of this Agreement, a charge of $________ will be due from Resident for
replacement of each lock.

7. PARKING

Resident is permitted to park no more than _____ vehicle(s) at the Premises and only during the term 
of this Agreement. Owner may specify, from time to time, where Resident’s vehicle(s) may be 
parked. Only vehicles which are registered and operable may be parked at the Premises. Unless 
otherwise agreed to by the parties, no recreational vehicles, boats, or trailers may be parked at the 
Premises. It will constitute a breach of this Agreement for Resident or any of Resident’s guests or 
invitees to park in any place other than approved parking spaces, or park so as to block access or 
interfere with any other person's right to enter, leave, or park at the Premises. Parking of commercial 
vehicles at the Premises is prohibited unless approved by Owner in advance in writing. If Owner 
elects to tow vehicles parked in violation of this Agreement, Resident will pay all costs. Owner may 
elect to tow with or without notice to Resident.

8. PETS 

Unless otherwise provided below in this paragraph, no pets of any kind, whether mammals, reptiles,
amphibians, birds, fish, rodents, insects, or any other form of animal life whatsoever are allowed, 
unless the animal is an assistive animal of a disabled person. Owner may require satisfactory proof 
of need for an assistive animal. 

[The following section shall be signed by Owner only if a pet is permitted.]
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Residential Lease Agreement 3 _______  _______
Resident(s) Initials

Owner permits the following pet(s) __________________ upon prior payment of a one-time pet 
deposit of $_____________________.

Signed: ________________________

9. ACCESS

Owner shall have the right, at reasonable times, and with 24 hours prior written notice, to enter and 
inspect said Premises, make necessary or agreed repairs, decorations, alterations or improvements, or 
supply necessary or agreed services, or to show said Premises to workmen or contractors, and shall 
also have the right to conduct a general inspection of the Premises quarterly.  Furthermore, during 
the last thirty (30) days of this Agreement’s Term, or any renewal term, Owner shall have the 
privilege of displaying the usual “For Sale” or “For Rent” or “Vacancy” signs on the Premises and 
shall have the right, at reasonable times, and with 24 hours prior written notice, to enter said 
Premises for the purpose of showing the same to prospective purchasers, mortgagees, or prospective 
residents.

10. NOTICE

Any notice required or authorized in this Agreement shall be given in writing via email and/or
Certified U.S. Mail.  The name and email address of Owner for the purpose of receiving notices and 
demands is: 

1910 Avenida Canada
Espanola, New Mexico 87532

Tel: 505-927-8844
Email: james@nmltco.com

The name and address of Resident for the purpose of receiving notices and demands is:

Name(s): ____________________________
Mailing Address: __________________________________

Santa Fe, New Mexico 875_____
Tel: _______________________

Email: _________________________

11. OBLIGATIONS OF RESIDENT

Resident hereby agrees and covenants with Owner to comply with the following terms and 
conditions:

a. Resident shall occupy the Premises as a residence for ______ person(s) named: 
___________________________________________, for any allowed pet(s), and for 
occasional, temporary guests for a duration of not more than five days. The Premises may be 
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Residential Lease Agreement 4 _______  _______
Resident(s) Initials

used for no other purpose without the express written consent of Owner, which consent may 
be granted or withheld in Owner’s sole discretion.

b. Resident shall quit and surrender the Premises peaceably and quietly, upon 
termination of this Agreement.  

c. Resident shall take good care of any furnishings provided for Resident’s use at the 
Premises. Resident further agrees to deliver up to Owner the Premises and furnishings in
good condition at the termination or expiration of any term under this Agreement, normal 
wear and tear excepted. 

d. Resident shall remove any and all accumulations of rubbish in, on, or about the 
Premises, and to thoroughly clean the Premises prior to the end of the lease Term.  Resident 
shall not generate any noise or sounds that are audible from outside of the Premises and/or 
unreasonable disturb other residents.

e. Resident shall pay for damages to Premises beyond reasonable wear and to pay for 
any cleaning and disposal of rubbish deemed necessary by Owner.

f. Resident shall make only such minor repairs as are necessary to enable Resident to 
comply with the terms and obligations of this Agreement.  Specifically, Resident agrees not 
to make any major repairs, improvements or alterations to the Premises unless consented to
in writing by Owner, which consent may be granted or withheld in Owner’s sole discretion.  
All alterations, additions, and improvements shall immediately merge with and become a 
part of the realty and remain in the Premises upon the end of the lease period.

g. Resident shall be liable Owner and to pay for repairs to the plumbing, range, heating 
apparatus and electric fixtures whenever damage to such items shall have resulted from 
Resident’s misuse, waste, or neglect. Resident will inform Owner of any accidents, 
malfunctions, broken equipment, leaks, or any other similar conditions on the Premises.
Resident will also inform Owner, without delay, of any unsafe conditions of which Resident
becomes aware of.

h. Resident shall comply with all applicable municipal, state and federal ordinances, 
laws, rules and regulations in using the Premises, and not to use or suffer to be used the 
Premises in any way so as to create any nuisance, and not to make or suffer to be made any 
waste thereof.

i. Resident shall not rent or sublet, in whole or in part, any portion of the Premises 
without written consent of the Owner, nor house or board any person or persons other than 
the Resident.

j. Resident agrees that Owner shall not be liable for any damage to persons or property 
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Residential Lease Agreement 5 _______  _______
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arising from any cause whatsoever in or about the Premises, and Resident agrees to 
indemnify and save harmless owner from any and all such claims and liability for damage to 
persons or property, except for matters arising out of or related to the acts or omissions of 
Owner.  Resident expressly recognizes and agrees that any insurance for property damage or 
loss which Owner may maintain on the Premises does not cover the property of Resident, 
and that Resident should purchase his or her own insurance if s/he desires such coverage.  

k. Resident shall promptly pay any utility charges that are not included in the rent and 
that are incurred in connection with Resident’s use of the premises, either to the utility 
provider directly if billed by such utility provider, or to Owner upon demand, and to save 
harmless Owner therefrom.  Utilities shall be paid by the party indicated on the following 
chart, with those utilities paid by Owner (if any) being included in, and being a part of, the 
monthly rent payments made by Resident to Owner pursuant to this Agreement.

OWNER RESIDENT
Electricity __________ __________
Gas __________ _________
Propane __________ _________
Refuse __________ _________
Sewer/Septic __________ _________
Water __________ _________
Telephone __________ _________
Cable/Satellite TV __________ _________
Internet __________ _________

12.  OBLIGATIONS OF OWNER

Owner shall make any repairs necessary to keep the Premises and any common areas in a safe 
condition and to maintain the electricity, plumbing, sanitary, ventilation, heating system, and other 
facilities and appliances in good and safe working order.

13.  ADDITIONAL TERMS

IT IS EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY AND BETWEEN THE PARTIES 
HERETO AS FOLLOWS:

a. That Resident has examined the Premises and any furnishings provided, including the 
grounds and all buildings and improvements, and that they are, as of the date of this 
Agreement, in good order, good repair, safe, clean, and habitable.

b. That smoking of tobacco, cannabis or other products of any kind is not permitted 
anywhere inside the Premises and is permitted only in designated outdoor smoking areas.

c. That should the Resident fail to comply with any of his obligations as provided by 
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law, or in this Agreement or any separate written agreement, the Owner may deliver a 
written notice to the Resident specifying the act and omissions constituting the breach, and 
that the Agreement will terminate upon a date not less than seven (7) days after receipt of the 
notice if the breach is not remedied in seven (7) days, and the rental agreement shall be 
terminated as provided in the notice unless the Resident adequately remedies the breach prior 
to the date specified in the notice in which case the rental agreement will not terminate.

d. That, if rent is unpaid when due and the Resident fails to pay the rent within three (3) 
days after written notice from the Owner of non-payment and his intention to terminate the 
Agreement, the Owner may terminate the Agreement and the Resident shall immediately 
deliver possession of the Premises to the Owner.

e. That all remedies of Owner hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any 
other remedy to which Owner may be lawfully entitled.  Owner’s failure to require strict 
performance of any agreement, covenant, or condition of this Agreement, or Owner’s receipt 
of rent with knowledge of the breach of any agreement, covenant, or condition hereof shall 
not be deemed a waiver of such breach and shall not prevent Owner from thereafter 
terminating this Agreement, or otherwise demanding strict performance of its terms either 
for such breach or for breach or for prior or subsequent breaches hereof.

f. That this Agreement is subject to the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform Owner-
Resident Relations Act.  To the extent that any provision of this Agreement conflicts with the 
provisions of the Act, the Act shall govern. Committing, or allowing another person to 
commit, a “substantial violation” of the law as defined by Section 47-8-3(T) of the Act in or 
around the Premises shall be grounds for immediate termination of the Lease as provided in 
the Act.

g. That this writing, including all exhibits hereto, embodies all of the terms and 
conditions of the Agreement, unless modified or altered by a separate or additional written 
agreement executed by the parties.

h. If legal action is required to enforce any provision of this Agreement, the parties 
consent to the personal jurisdiction of the New Mexico District Court sitting in and for Rio 
Arriba County, New Mexico, and the prevailing party shall be entitled to recovery of 
reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

i. The Property was constructed after 1978, and it therefore, not subject to Federal 
Lead-Based Paint Regulations.
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Residential Lease Agreement 7 _______  _______
Resident(s) Initials

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed these presents the day and the year first 
above written.

Owner: Resident(s):

_____________________________ _____________________________
James Gomez
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